THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The SUPREME COURT

RECEIVED

NOV 18 2013

Appellate Case No. 2012-212258

S.C. Supreme Court

STEPHEN C. WHIGHAM.....PETITIONER,

v.

JACKSON DAWSON COMMUNICATIONSRESPONDENTS.
AND THE HARTFORD

BRIEF OF PETITIONER

Douglas A. Churdar, Esq.
DOUGLAS A. CHURDAR, P.C.
712 East Washington Street
Greenville, SC 29601
(864) 233-0203

Attorney for Petitioner

QUESTIONS PRESENTED FOR REVIEW BY THE SUPREME COURT

- I. Did the Court of Appeals fail to apply standards set forth by this Court for determining workers' compensation coverage and, thus, err by finding Appellant's injury was not compensable, though it occurred at a "team-building" event that Employer expressly wanted him to plan, organize, promote, and execute for Employer's benefit.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This case will clarify South Carolina law relating to when a recreational or social event and, more specifically, employment that includes planning, organizing, promoting, and executing such event, arises out of and in the course of employment. Here Petitioner sustained injury to his right knee on October 6, 2007, resulting in permanent impairment/disability to the right lower extremity. The injury occurred during the Employer-sponsored "team building" event. Petitioner contends his injury arose out of and in the course of employment. Employer contends the opposite.

The case was heard by the Single Commissioner on January 4, 2010. The Single Commissioner found the Petitioner's injury did not arise out of and in the course of employment. Petitioner appealed to the Commission, which heard the case on May 18, 2010 and fully affirmed the Single Commissioner by Order dated July 21, 2010.

Petitioner appealed to the Court of Appeals, which heard the case on March 20, 2012 and affirmed the Commission by Order dated April 11, 2012. Petitioner then filed a Motion for Rehearing on April 25, 2012, which was denied.

Petitioner filed a Petition for Writ of Certiorari with this Court on July 17, 2012. The Petition was granted by Order dated September 19, 2013.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

This Court will find that Petitioner relies exclusively on evidence provided by Employer, except where Petitioner and Employer take consistent factual positions. In that instance, Petitioner also relies on his evidence.

The undisputed material facts will lead to these conclusions:

1. Petitioner was injured while undertaking duties in good faith to advance Employer's interest, i.e. he knew Employer wanted him to plan, organize, promote, and execute a "team-building" event at which he was injured;
2. Employer impliedly required Petitioner to participate in the "team-building" activity or made the activity part of Petitioner's services, thereby bringing the activity within the orbit of his employment; and
3. Employer derived substantial direct benefit from the activity beyond the intangible value of improvement in employee health and morale that is common to all kinds of recreation and social life.

Petitioner's injury occurred at an event that he and other members of Employer's management reported on their time sheets. (R. p. 76, lines 1-6; 113, lines 4-17; 196-197). At the end of the year, Employer included the event in Petitioner's annual evaluation. (R. p. 87, line 14 – p. 88, line 13; pp. 191-193).

During 2007, Petitioner was a member of upper management at Employer. Employer is a marketing, advertising, and communications company that helps other companies amplify their messages and build brand value. (R. p. 89, lines 1-7) Petitioner's title was Director of Creative Services. (R. p. 90, lines 2-3) His direct

supervisor was Kevin Johnson, Employer's Executive Vice President. (R. p. 88, lines 17-20; p. 90, lines 4-8) Petitioner answered directly to Mr. Johnson. (R. p. 90, lines 7-8).¹

Both Petitioner and Mr. Johnson attended upper management meetings on a regular basis. Prior to 2007, Employer testified it had been "a non-typical employer" with an emphasis on "being different" and "having fun" and "making it a fun place to work." (R. p. 63, lines 10-19) Employer's upper management saw such an atmosphere as a business benefit, and accordingly upper management began discussing the need for "team-building" events to "bring back the fun." It is undisputed that the consensus in upper management was that "team-building" events, such as the one at which Petitioner was injured, were desired and should occur. (R. p. 61, lines 17-24; p. 105, lines 6-10, lines 21-25) (Per Mr. Johnson: "Yes. [W]e needed to do things or wanted to do things that would promote fun within the business, break the stress." R. p. 61, lines 22-24) ("Team building is something extremely important to the health of the company" R. p. 109, lines 1-2) "[A]ll upper management was concerned about [team building]." (R. p. 108, lines 18-21) As a member of upper management, Petitioner knew that Employer wanted more "team-building" events to occur that year.² (R. p. 62, lines 1-7; p. 105, lines 6-10)

Here is a significant aside. Employer promotes and encourages its own clients to use "team-building" events and markets its services in staging such "team-building"

¹ As Mr. Johnson was the highest ranking and sole executive who appeared for Employer at the hearing, the terms "Mr. Johnson" and "Employer" will at times be used interchangeably. Though Petitioner reported to Mr. Johnson, he was in effect "Employer" himself in that he was also a member of upper management.

² Petitioner was responsible for two team-building events in 2007. The first was "Afternoon Delight – Salute to the One-Hit Wonders", which was a cookout during normal business hours. Employees ate grilled spam (among other things), and played Name that Tune. Additionally, Employee played numerous "one-hits" by otherwise obscure music groups, e.g. "Afternoon Delight" by Starland Vocal Band, "Safety Dance" by Men Without Hats, "Mickey" by Tony Basil, "Whip It" by Devo, "Puttin on the Ritz" by Taco, etc.

events. (R. p. 105, lines 11-20) At the time of the hearing, Employer's website specifically promoted its services in staging "team-building" events (R. p. 105, lines 11-20).

According to Employer, "team-building" events serve the following business purposes:

- "Promote fun within the business" (R. p. 61, line 24)
- "Break the stress" (R. p. 61, line 24)
- "Promote creativity" (R. p. 63, lines 7-9)
- "Being different" (R. p. 63, lines 10-11)
- "Being a non-typical employer" (R. p. 63, lines 14-15)
- "Helps us retain good employees and keep people happy" (R. p. 63, lines 16-19)
- "Needed for [Employer] to succeed as a marketing agency" (R. p. 64, lines 1-4)
- "Get better work out of your employees" (R. p. 64, lines 14-23)
- "Promote a better working relationship between members of different departments" (R. p. 65, line 25-p. 66, line 5)
- "Promote employee loyalty to [Employer]" (R. p. 66, line 6-8)

According to Petitioner, team-building events serve the following business purposes:

- "Instill fun" (R. p. 106, line 7)
- "Increase communication pathways between departments" (R. p. 106, lines 7-8)

- Help with hiring – “people we try to hire are looking for a creative place to work” (R. p. 106, lines 10-11)
- Helps specifically in hiring “young artists, writers, and web developers” (R. p. 106, lines 15-24)
- Promotes “better working relationships between employees” (R. p. 106, line 25-p. 107, line 3)
- Promotes “better working relationships between departments” (R. p. 107, lines 4-20), specifically between creative service department and account service department in 2007
- “Create loyalty to [Employer]” (R. p. 107, lines 21-24)

Approximately one month before Petitioner’s injury, he proposed a “team-building” event to Mr. Johnson. (R. p. 67, lines 1-5) This event was a kickball game – “Ballad Ball” – that “paid tribute to the rock ballads of the eighties.” (R. p. 110, lines 6-9) Mr. Johnson authorized Ballad Ball and specifically authorized Petitioner to organize, plan, and execute Ballad Ball. (R. p. 68, lines 18-21; p. 70, lines 7-9)

Still, many of the details for Ballad Ball were ironed out between Petitioner and Mr. Johnson. According to Mr. Johnson: “I had to be part of the pre-discussions, when are we going to do it, where are we going to do, how much is it going to cost, all of that.” (R. p. 70, lines 19-21) Among other things, Mr. Johnson approved when and where Ballad Ball would be held, rental of a field at the YMCA, and the expenditure of money, including a budget. (R. p. 68, lines 12-14, lines 22-24; p. 70, lines 19-24) (R. pp. 150-171) Mr. Johnson’s involvement continued: “We had regular meetings, and we would talk briefly about it.” (R. p. 73, lines 19-23).

With Employer's full knowledge and blessing, Petitioner started "the hype machine" company-wide. (R. p. 69, lines 1-3) (See generally R. pp. 150-171 – Emails regarding Ballad Ball) Per Mr. Johnson, Petitioner "can hype with the best of them..." (R. p. 70, line 14) Ballad Ball was "hyped up" for about thirty (30) days (R. p. 111, lines 11-13). With Employer's full knowledge and blessing, Petitioner did the following:

- Used Employer's intranet (R. p. 69, lines 7-9; p. 110, lines 23-24) to encourage *all* employees to participate in Ballad Ball (R. p. 69, lines 10-21; p. 70, lines 7-9)
- Used Employer's email to plan, organize, and execute Ballad Ball (R. p. 73, lines 2-5; p. 110, line 23-p. 111, line 1). Emails were sent to *all* employees for the purpose of encouraging them to attend/participate (R. p. 73, lines 10-18)
- Put flyers in employee's boxes (R. p. 111, lines 2-7)

In addition, Mr. Johnson promoted Ballad Ball at a staff meeting (R. p. 111, lines 2-7)

Petitioner's efforts were successful. As Ballad Ball approached, it was "widely discussed throughout the company" (R. p. 74, lines 7-9). There was a "substantial amount" of "trash talk" going back and forth between employees via Employer's email (R. p. 74, lines 18-21). (For *some* examples – see R. pp. 157, 170-171) As Petitioner continued to "organize, and plan, and execute this event", he continued to report back to Mr. Johnson. (R. p. 73, lines 19-23) Mr. Johnson testified that Petitioner was doing everything he expected him to do in terms of planning, organizing, and executing Ballad Ball (R. p. 76, lines 17-20)

Petitioner divided the employees into two (2) teams and requested that Employer produce t-shirts for the teams. He sent the proposed designs to Mr. Johnson (R. p. 75, lines 5-9). (R. pp. 162-164) Employer paid for the t-shirts (R. p. 75, lines 16-17). The t-shirts were designed and created by another employee, who created and designed the t-shirts while on company time (R. p. 75, lines 10-15). The t-shirts displayed team names, which were based upon professional acronyms, i.e. PETEY-O's (PTO = paid time off) and ELOISE'S (LOE - Letter of estimate). (R. p. 75, lines 18-24) (R. pp. 163-164)

With Employer's knowledge, Petitioner worked on Ballad Ball during his work day, i.e. on company time (R. p. 76, lines 1-6; p. 113, lines 4-7; 13-16). Petitioner recorded the time he spent on Ballad Ball as "administrative time" on his time sheets. (R. p. 113, lines 8-9) Petitioner was never admonished by Employer not to spend "work" time on Ballad Ball (R. p. 113, lines 8-12). Nor was he told that it was inappropriate to record the time he spent on his time sheets (R. p. 114, lines 14-17). The day of his injury, Petitioner again recorded the time he spent on Ballad Ball as administrative time (R. p. 114, lines 6-13). (R. p. 196) Likewise, Employer's CFO recorded "kick ball" on his time sheet. (R. p. 197)

Ballad Ball was scheduled to begin at 3:00 p.m. on Friday, October, 7, 2007 (R. p. 70, lines 22-24), though employees were encouraged to get their "kickball playing patooti[s] out there before 3:00 p.m." (R. p. 70, line 25 – p. 71, line 12). Normal working hours at Employer were 8:30 a.m. to 5:30 p.m. Employer's phones, however, were answered from 8:00 a.m. to 6:00 p.m. (R. p. 77, line 15-p. 78, line 2). Like other members of upper management, Petitioner typically and routinely worked about fifty (50) hours per week (R. p. 78, lines 3-11; p. 116, lines 5-7). Accordingly, Petitioner typically

and routinely worked until 5:30 p.m. on Friday (R. p. 78, line 12 – p. 79, line 1; p. 116, lines 8-10). If Petitioner had not been at Ballad Ball, he would have been in his office (R. p. 234, lines 1-4 – see Appendix).

Though attendance at Ballad Ball was not explicitly required, Employer wanted “as many as could” to attend and participate in it (R. p. 71, lines 7-12). It was Mr. Johnson’s “hope that everyone would come.” (R. p. 72, lines 19-22). It was Mr. Johnson’s “expectation that those who were not tied up with client work would be there.” (R. p. 72, lines 23-25). All employees were encouraged more than once to attend (R. p. 112, line 25 – p. 113, line 3). Mr. Johnson made at least one announcement about Ballad Ball at a staff meeting. (R. p. 111, lines 2-7) A roster of participants was circulated before the event via company email (R. p. 100, lines 6-10), and in the email those who were not on a team roster were described as “holdouts.” (R. p. 100, lines 11-13) (R. p. 154) In the end, Mr. Johnson estimates that 50 or 60% of employees attended. (R. p. 84, lines 10-15; p. 236, lines 12-14 – see Appendix). Not all employees were in town. Some stayed back and worked, and some may have gone home at 3:30 p.m. if their work and time sheets were completed. (R. p. 80, line 20 – p. 81, line 8; p. 83, lines 8-19)

Salaried employees were paid for their time at Ballad Ball. They were not required to use vacation time (R. p. 76, line 24 – p. 77, line 8). All salaried employees received a full week’s pay. As noted previously, the time sheets for Petitioner and Employer’s CFO show they recorded their time for Ballad Ball (R. pp. 196-197). Though no other time sheets are part of the record, Employer acknowledges other employees recorded their time at Ballad Ball on their time sheets. (R. p. 101, lines 8-13).

Regardless of whether attendance at Ballad Ball was required or voluntary for *other* employees, Petitioner considered *his* attendance at Ballad Ball to be part of his job (R. p. 234, lines 14-15 –see Appendix). Petitioner believed he would have upset a lot of people had he not shown up; “it would have been a poor reflection on management if [he] would have not shown up.” (R. p. 234, lines 9-13 – see Appendix)

Employer’s expectations of Petitioner were consistent with his belief: he was *expected* to be at the event. Mr. Johnson indicated he “would have been surprised and shocked” if Petitioner had not shown up at the team-building event because he “spent all the time planning the thing.” (R. p. 102, lines 5-8) Mr. Johnson could not imagine Petitioner not showing up. “[H]e wouldn’t do that. I’ll just say that. He wouldn’t do that.” (R. p. 102, lines 15-18) According to Mr. Johnson, had Petitioner failed to show up at the event, it “would have been unexpected, unbelievable. I mean, you don’t plan something and then not show up to it.” (R. p. 102, lines 19-22)

In addition to paying to rent the field, paying for snacks, paying for t-shirts, and paying salaried employees for their time, Employer also provided the following equipment: chairs, coolers, a megaphone, “other equipment” (R. p. 85, lines 10-17), cones, a “big ball”, and extension cords (R. p. 115, lines 1-6).

The morning of Ballad Ball, Petitioner went to the YMCA early, met with people at the YMCA, set up the field, and set up speakers and music. This occurred during normal work hours. (R. p. 115, lines 14-16) Ballad Ball itself began during normal work hours (R. p. 115, lines 17-19). Petitioner got the event started at about 3:00 p.m. (R. p. 118, lines 11-13). He and other upper management proceeded to hype it up during Ballad Ball, thus keeping enthusiasm at a high level. (R. p. 118, line 21- p. 119, line 1) (See R.

pp. 172-187) At about 4:15 p.m., while participating in Ballad Ball, Petitioner was injured. (R. p. 119, lines 12-16) (R. pp. 28-31)

Even after the event, Ballad Ball was fully embraced by Employer. Photographs of Ballad Ball were taken. (R. p. 85, lines 24-25) (R. pp. 172-187) These photographs, which portray Petitioner in a leadership role, were posted on Employer's intranet for a period of time (R. p. 86, lines 1-3). Further, these photographs were displayed at Employer's 2007 Christmas party (R. p. 86, lines 4-5; p. 125, lines 7-10). The context for showing the photographs at the Christmas party was part of a "review of the year". The event was "one of the big events of the year we wanted to place emphasis on. ...[We] were just showing all the great things that had happened through the year. That made the list." (R. p. 125, lines 11-17)

In February 2008, Petitioner underwent a 2007 employee performance evaluation. This included a self-evaluation (R. pp. 188-190) and an evaluation by Mr. Johnson (R. pp. 191-193). When Petitioner evaluated himself, he listed Ballad Ball as a major accomplishment that had a "very positive lift to the working culture at [Employer]." (R. p. 86, line 15 – p. 88, line 4) (R. pp. 188-190) Mr. Johnson's response to Petitioner's self-evaluation confirms that Ballad Ball was part of Petitioner's employment. (R. p. 87, lines 5-13). More importantly, when Mr. Johnson evaluated Petitioner, he also referred to Ballad Ball. Mr. Johnson indicated that Petitioner was a "team player" and brought back "a couple of fun events" and specifically referred to Ballad Ball. (R. p. 87, line 14 – p. 88, line 13) (R. pp. 191-193) Accordingly, Mr. Johnson gave Petitioner one of the highest ratings possible under the category "Effective Team Player/Engages in Team Efforts." (R. pp. 191-193).

ARGUMENT

I. STANDARD OF REVIEW

In *Grant v. Grant Textiles*, 361 S.C. 188, 603 S.E. 2d 858 (S.C. App. 2004), then-Chief Justice Hearn pointed out in her dissent that, while the question of whether an accident arises out of and in the course of employment is largely one of fact, it becomes a matter of law where there are no material facts in dispute. 603 S.E. 2d at 860. When reviewing the Court of Appeals' decision and reversing its ruling on that question, this Court agreed. "There were no disputed material facts in this case. Where there are no disputed facts, the question of whether an act is compensable is a question of law." *Grant v. Grant Textiles*, 641 S.E. 2d 869, 372 S.C. 196 (S.C. 2007). Accordingly, this Court can apply the undisputed underlying facts in this case and find that the Court of Appeals reached an incorrect conclusion of law.

II. THE COURT OF APPEALS DID NOT APPLY STANDARDS SET FORTH BY THIS COURT FOR DETERMINING WORKERS' COMPENSATION COVERAGE AND, THUS, ERRED BY FINDING PETITIONER'S INJURY WAS NOT COMPENSABLE, THOUGH IT OCCURRED AT A "TEAM-BUILDING" EVENT THAT EMPLOYER EXPRESSLY WANTED HIM TO PLAN, ORGANIZE, PROMOTE, AND EXECUTE FOR EMPLOYER'S BENEFIT.

A. This Court has never limited workers' compensation coverage only to injuries that occur while an employee is working within a written job description.

The Court of Appeals erred by setting a very narrow standard for extending workers' compensation coverage. It affirmed an Order in which the Commission focused

on whether Petitioner's written job description³ explicitly required him to plan, organize, promote, and execute the "team-building" event. The Commission found:

"13. If Petitioner had been required to plan the event as part of his job description/duties, I might well have reached a different conclusion. However, such is not the case." (R. p. 24)

This Court has held that the standard for extending workers' compensation coverage is not nearly so narrow. In *Grant v. Grant Textiles*, 372 S.C. 196, 641 S.E. 2d 869 (S.C. 2007), this Court placed the focus on the employee's motivation, i.e. whether the employee undertook his duties to advance the employer's interest, not on whether the employee's acts were part of a job description. All that need exist is a causal connection between the job and the injury. *Id.* at 876.

"There are circumstances when injuries arising out of acts outside the scope of an employee's regular duties may be compensable. (citations omitted)...An act outside an employee's regular duties which is undertaken in good faith to advance the employer's interest, whether or not the employer's assigned work is thereby furthered, is within the course of employment." *Id.* at 871-872, citing *Howell v. Kash & Karry*, 264 S.C. 298, 214 S.E. 2d 821 (1975) (grocery store employee who was injured while chasing two purse-snatchers was found to have suffered a compensable injury.)

In *Grant*, the employee went to a hunting preserve, Clinton House, to meet his employer's customers. While at Clinton House, he took it upon himself to remove debris from the road, and he was struck by an automobile. *Id.* 870. This Court found that a causal connection existed because "the accident wouldn't have happened but for Petitioner's trip to the Clinton House to meet his employer's customers." *Id.* 872. Even though picking up debris was outside Grant's regular duties, it was "undertaken in good faith to advance his employer's interest..." in that "...he chose to remove the hazard to benefit himself, his co-worker father, and his customers." *Id.*

³ There is no evidence that Petitioner had a written job description.

Citing the policy reasons behind the workers' compensation system, this Court again emphasized a broader standard for extending coverage in *Pierre v. Seaside Farms, Inc.*, 386 S.C. 534, 689 S.E. 2d 615 (S.C. 2010). This Court found that "an injured employee should not be excluded from the benefits of the law upon the ground that the accident did not arise out of and in the course of his employment when there is substantial doubt arising from the proven facts of the propriety of such conclusion." *Id.* 689 S.E. 2d at 618, citing *Pelfrey v. Oconee County*, 207 S.C. 433, 440, 36 S.E. 2d 297, 300 (1945). "These words are construed broadly and should continue to be so construed." *Id.* "Common sense indicates that a compensation law passed to increase workers' rights (because their common law rights were too narrow) should not thereafter be narrowly construed." *Id.* 689 S.E. 2d at 619.

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