THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Supreme Court

APPEAL FROM THE SOUTH CAROLINA
WORKERS' COMPENSATION COMMISSION

Case No. 2012-212258

RECEIVED

JAN 17 2014

S.C. Supreme Court

STEPHEN C. WHIGHAM.....PETITIONER,

v.

JACKSON DAWSON COMMUNICATIONS
AND THE HARTFORD..... RESPONDENTS.

BRIEF OF RESPONDENTS

Benjamin M. Renfrow
Wesley J. Shull
Willson Jones Carter & Baxley, P.A.
872 S. Pleasantburg Drive
Greenville, SC 29607
(864) 527-3296
Attorneys for Respondents

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

ARGUMENT

I.

THE RECORD CONTAINS SUBSTANTIAL EVIDENCE TO SUPPORT THE COMMISSION'S DECISION THAT PETITIONER'S ACCIDENT NEITHER AROSE OUT OF NOR OCCURRED IN THE COURSE & SCOPE OF HIS EMPLOYMENT.

In order to be entitled to compensation for an injury under the South Carolina Workers' Compensation Act, a claimant must show that he or she suffered an "injury by accident arising out of and in the course of the employment." S.C. Code Ann. § 42-1-160 (Supp. 2006). The question of whether an accident arises out of and is in the course and scope of employment is largely a question of fact. Gibson v. Spartanburg County Sch. Dist. No. 3, 338 S.C. 510, 517, 526 S.E.2d 725, 729 (Ct. App. 2000). One of the main facts on which the parties disagree, and which is determinative of whether Petitioner's injury arose out of his employment, is the factual question of whether or not Respondent *impliedly required* Petitioner's attendance at the kickball game. For this reason, the substantial evidence standard does apply to this case, especially with respect to the issue of Claimant's alleged mandatory attendance at the game and Respondent's alleged implied requirement of attendance.

"[T]he two parts of the phrase 'arising out of and in the course of employment' are not synonymous." Osteen v. Greenville County Sch. Dist., 333 S.C. 43, 49, 508 S.E.2d 21, 24 (1998). Rather, "[b]oth parts must exist simultaneously before any court will allow recovery." Id.

A. Petitioner's Injury Did Not Arise Out of His Employment.

The substantial evidence in the record establishes that Petitioner's alleged accident did not arise out of his employment with Respondent. The term "arising out of" refers to the origin of the cause of the accident. Douglas v. Spartan Mills, 245 S.C. 265, 140 S.E.2d 173 (1965);

Williams v. South Carolina State Hospital, 245 S.C. 377, 140 S.E.2d 601 (1965); Bickley v. South Carolina Electric & Gas Co., 259 S.C. 463, 192 S.E.2d 866 (1972). The injury arises “out of” the employment when there is apparent to the rational mind, upon consideration of all the circumstances, a causal connection between the conditions under which the work is to be performed and the resulting injury. Douglas v. Spartan Mills, 245 S.C. 265, 140 S.E.2d 173 (1965); Carter v. Penney Tire & Recapping Co., 261 S.C. 341, 200 S.E.2d 64 (1973).

The overwhelming weight of evidence reveals that Petitioner simply failed to meet this requirement. Kevin Johnson, Petitioner’s direct supervisor at the time of the accident and Executive Vice President for Respondent, testified at the hearing.³ According to Mr. Johnson, no aspect of Petitioner’s specific job as a member of upper management required him to create activities internally for employees, such as the kickball game giving rise to this litigation. (R. p. 90, line 23-p. 91, line 1) He indicated that no aspect of Petitioner’s position existed that required him to plan events for the company and there was no expectation for him to do this. (R. p. 91, lines 2-8) He also testified that, hypothetically, if an employee in a department different than Petitioner’s wished to plan a kickball game, he or she would also be allowed to perform such a task. (R. p. 91, lines 9-12) Mr. Johnson further testified that Petitioner was not paid extra to plan events for his co-employees. (R. p. 94, lines 9-12) He admitted that the kickball game was Petitioner’s idea, and that Petitioner approached him to request permission to plan it. (R. p. 67, line 17; R. p. 69, lines 7-9)

Mr. Johnson also testified that two of Respondent’s website technicians had planned similar activities prior to Petitioner’s kickball game. (R. p. 92, lines 8-10) In addition, a

³ The Single Commissioner and Full Commission specifically found Mr. Johnson’s testimony to be “very credible” based on observations of him and the delivery of his testimony (R. p. 17). “The final determination of witness credibility and the weight to be accorded evidence is reserved to the full commission . . .” Rogers v. Kunja Knitting Mills, 312 S.C. 377, 440 S.E.2d 410 (Ct. App. 1994).

warehouse manager had occasionally organized a softball team. (R. p. 93, lines 17-24) Per Mr. Johnson, members of upper management were notified of the game as all employees were, but they were not encouraged any more so to attend.⁴ (R. p. 71, lines 13-24) It is clear from the evidence in this case that Petitioner's alleged accident did not "arise out of" his position with Respondent, as there was clearly no causal connection between the conditions under which Petitioner's work is required to be performed and the resulting injury.

Petitioner even admitted at his deposition, and later attempted to clarify at the hearing, that there was nothing about his role with Respondent that required him to scheme company events, such as a kickball game, in order to build company morale. (R. p. 142, lines 13-25) At the hearing, Petitioner also testified that, in his opinion, team building was not a responsibility required by his position in upper management. (R. p. 108, lines 18-21) He testified that planning the kickball game was his idea and that he volunteered to see it through. (R. p. 110, lines 12-17)

Petitioner admitted that, were he not playing kickball that afternoon, but rather had chosen to return to his home (as many other of his co-employees had), he would have earned the same pay for his services that day. (R. p. 144, lines 4-7) He further testified that he would have received the same pay had he stayed in the office in order to work as opposed to playing kickball. (Id.) He received no extra payment for organizing this game. (R. p. 144, lines 11-12) He reiterated that he was not injured organizing the games, but was injured playing in the game. (R. p. 144, lines 13-16) The substantial evidence in the record, including Petitioner's own testimony, revealed that his October 5, 2007, injury on the Y.M.C.A. softball field did not arise out of his position with Respondent.

⁴ Petitioner admitted that he did not usually attend or participate in other employee only events such as games for the company softball team, which is a strong indicator that it was not part of his job description to attend or participate in such events.

Petitioner, in his brief, attempts to use Hall v. Desert Aire, Inc., 376 S.C. 338, 656 S.E.2d 753 (Ct. App. 2007), as an analogous case to support his position that the injury he sustained while playing kickball arose out of his employment. In Hall, the claimant was employed as a regional sales manager which “necessitated an average of four days of business travel every week.” Id. at 345, 756. Hall was given an expense account by Desert Aire because it was the “custom and practice” of its employees to “conduct business in the context of entertaining.” Id. at 354, 760. On the date of his injury, Hall had travelled to Little Rock, Arkansas, in order to “meet with key engineers, and to plan a strategy for securing the Walmart account.” Id. From there, he planned to travel to Omaha, Nebraska, and Des Moines, Iowa. While in Arkansas, Hall attended a dinner at a business associate’s home, which included the consumption of alcohol. After the dinner, Hall and the business associate continued to discuss business strategy, and decided to ride in the business associate’s Jeep, resulting in a motor vehicle crash.

In finding that Hall’s accident arose out of his employment, this Court analyzed prior case law and stated, “Like the claimants in *Gray* and *Grant*, Hall’s purpose in traveling was wholly and exclusively in pursuit of his duties as national sales manager for Desert Aire. Nothing in the evidentiary record suggests he engaged in any activities of a personal nature that might break the causal link between his employment and his injuries.” Id. at 354, 761. In its opinion, this Court further stated, “Hall was engaged in ongoing discussions with business associates involving the marketing and sale of Desert Aire equipment at the time of the accident. *But for* these employment activities, Hall would not have traveled to Little Rock, attended the business dinner at the Brunner home, or continued his business conversation with Brunner on into the evening.” Id. at 355, 356, 762.

Unlike Hall, Petitioner was not travelling at the time of his injury “in the pursuit of his duties” as Director of Creative Services for Respondent. The Commission was clearly correct in taking into account Petitioner’s normal job duties in making its decision. There is no evidence in the record that supports the notion that Petitioner and the other employees involved in the kickball game were conducting or discussing business matters. Hall is clearly distinguishable from the case at hand.

B. Petitioner’s Injury Does Not Meet the Requirements of the Larson’s Analysis.

The substantial evidence in the record supports the Commission’s finding that Petitioner’s injury did not arise out of his employment because his attendance was not required (expressly or impliedly) and gave no direct substantial benefit to Respondent. In determining if injuries sustained while participating in recreational or social activities arise out of employment, three factors are to be considered. Specifically, this Court has determined that injuries sustained while participating in recreational or social activities arise out of employment when:

- (1) they occur on the premises during a lunch or recreation period as a regular incident of the employment; or
- (2) the employer, by expressly or impliedly requiring participation, or by making the activity part of the services of an employee, brings the activity within the orbit of the employment; or
- (3) the employer derives substantial direct benefit from the activity beyond the intangible value of improvement in employee health and morale that is common to all kinds of recreation and social life.

Leopard v. Blackman-Uhler, 318 S.C. 369 (1995); A. Arthur Larson and Lex Larson, The Law of Workmen’s Compensation § 22.00 (1994).

In Leopard, this Court held that the employee’s injury did not arise out of his employment when he was injured while playing on the company softball team. The facts of

Leopard are largely similar to the facts of the instant case: (1) Leopard's injury did not take place on the employer's premises and did not occur during normal working hours; (2) the activity in question (playing in a softball game) was organized by the employees; (3) the employer furnished equipment, including uniforms, and paid the League dues; (4) none of the employees participating on the company softball team were paid for their time spent playing or coaching; (5) the team uniforms bore the company name and logo and the results of the games were published in the local newspaper.

In finding that Leopard's injury was not compensable, this Court stated, "[f]urnishing equipment, uniforms, and league dues coupled with the remote advertising benefit to the company of a successful company softball team fall short of brining Leopard's injury within the scope of his employment at Blackman-Uhler." Id. at 372, 42.

Two other applicable cases from other jurisdictions are Pizza Hut of America, Inc. v. Hood, 198 Ga.App. 112, 400 S.E.2d 657 (1991), and Shade v. Ayars & Ayars, 513 N.W.2d 881 (Neb.App. 1994). In Hood, the employee drowned at an employer-sponsored picnic. Attendance at the picnic was encouraged but not required, and the employer used the games as a promotional tool to sell its latest product. Despite these factors, the Georgia Court of Appeals found that the employee's death did not arise out of or occur during the course and scope of his employment and, therefore, was not a compensable claim.

In Shade, an employee was injured at an employer-sponsored picnic. The event was sponsored by the employer, attendance was encouraged, all expenses were paid by the employer, and the event was advertised by the employer within the place of employment. However, the Nebraska Court of Appeals analyzed these same factors and found that the employee's injury was not a compensable event.

The facts of case at hand are even less supportive of a finding of compensability than those of Leopard. In the case at hand, the kickball game did not occur during normal working hours. Respondent instituted flexible summer hours in which employees were off on Fridays during the Summer months starting at 3:30 p.m. (R. p. 77, lines 14-24 & p. 79, lines 20-22) In this case, employees were allowed to work through the standard 30 minute lunch so they could leave work, clock out and arrive at the game at 3:00 (R. p. 99, lines 10-13) While most employees at this company are salaried, hourly employees were required to “clock out” to participate in the kickball game. (R. p. 145, lines 5-18) No employee believed the kickball game to be mandatory. (R. p. 141, lines 5-17)

In addition, the T-shirts worn by the employees during the kickball game did not bear Respondent’s company name or logo, so Respondent did not enjoy the “remote advertising benefit” as the employer in Leopard did. The kickball game in question was not only organized by employees, but actually voluntarily organized by Petitioner himself.

C. Petitioner’s Attendance at the Kickball Game Was Not Required.

Petitioner’s own testimony presents substantial evidence in support of the Commission’s ruling. Petitioner admitted that many of the employees did not come to the kickball games. (R. p. 140, lines 12-19) He explained his belief that the reason that many of the employees did not attend the game was because they had to perform work and that service to Respondent’s clients was always the highest priority. (R. p. 116, lines 17-24) Petitioner testified that nobody was forced into going to this kickball game. (R. p. 124, lines 5-8) Petitioner testified that kickball was not something he regularly performs as an employee of Respondent. (R. p. 139, lines 5-7) Petitioner admitted that no clients or prospective clients were invited to play. (R. p. 139, lines 17-20) Petitioner admitted that there was no pressure from anyone, including him, for employees

to play in this kickball game. (R. p. 141, lines 5-7) He also admitted there was no ultimatum given from upper management for the associates to attend this kickball game. (R. p. 141, lines 9-15) *He specifically admitted his attendance at this game completely voluntary.* (R. p. 141, lines 16-17) He indicated that none of Respondent's employees had ever approached him to state that they felt pressured to play in said kickball game. (R. p. 141, lines 18-22)

Petitioner also admitted that Respondent did not provide any transportation to the game or reimbursement for mileage to and from the game. (R. p. 143, lines 22-24) He admitted that Respondent did not hire a bus or van to transport employees to the game. (R. p. 143, line 25-p. 144, line 1) He further admitted that no employees were punished and no pay decreased for those who opted not to attend the game. (R. p. 145, lines 12-15) He indicated that the results of the game were not published in any local newspaper and no pressure was put on any employee to participate. (R. p. 145, line 22-p. 146, line 2) Mr. Johnson testified the game was not a required activity and attendance was completely optional. (R. p. 72, lines 5-9) The "very credible" testimony of Mr. Johnson, as found by the Single Commissioner, supports the decision of the Commission.

It is undisputed that some employees played kickball, other chose to return to their homes for the day as they normally would, and yet others simply chose to stay in order to complete work. (R. p. 76, lines 12-16) Mr. Johnson indicated that approximately half of the employees participated or attended the kickball game and that he did not know the reason why the other half did not. (R. p. 76, lines 7-11) He emphasized that no employee was required to participate in this game, no employee was punished for not participating, and no employees' pay was decreased if they decided not to play in the kickball game. (R. p. 98, lines 18-24)

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